For some decades, world-wide, there have been national initiatives to improve literacy rates and standards. During the same period, concentrated research studies have been undertaken to find out how best to achieve the desired improvements. Two main thrusts in teaching and learning how to read and write have emerged, often in controversy. One is generally known as the 'whole language' approach and the other concentrates more on instruction in phonics. What works? This paper focuses on the theoretical assumptions underlying these two approaches to the teaching of literacy, and the studies which have been undertaken, in the international arena, to find out how children progress, from their earliest educational years, in attaining both initial reading skills and lifelong literacy.

# Closing the gap between research and practice: Foundations for the acquisition of literacy

Marion de Lemos



## The ACER Core-Funded Research Program

The Australian Council for Educational Research conducts a core program of research funded by an annual grant from the States and Territories and the Commonwealth.

This annual grant allows research to be undertaken into issues of general importance in Australian education and complements research projects commissioned from time to time by individual States, Territories and the Commonwealth.

Priorities for the ACER core research program are reviewed every three years. The three-year program under which this work was completed focused on an overarching question: What can be done to improve learning outcomes? and addressed five priority areas:

- assessment and reporting to improve learning
- improving literacy and numeracy learning
- improving outcomes for Indigenous students
- teaching practices to improve learning
- vocational outcomes and lifelong learning





Closing the gap between research and practice: Foundations for the acquisition of literacy



This publication is the result of research that forms part of a program supported by a grant to the Australian Council for Educational Research by State, Territory and Commonwealth governments. The support provided by these governments is gratefully acknowledged.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author and not necessarily those of the State, Territory and Commonwealth governments.

First published 2002 by the Australian Council for Educational Research Ltd 19 Prospect Hill Road, Camberwell, Victoria 3124 Australia.

Copyright © 2002 Australian Council for Educational Research

All rights reserved. Except as provided for by Australian copyright law, no part of this book may be reproduced without written permission from the publisher.

ISBN 0-86431-584-8

Printed in Australia by RossCo Print

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Introduction	2
Definition of literacy	3
A model of reading and writing	5
Learning to read: the self-teaching hypothesis	7
Focus of the review	8
The Australian context	9
Focus of Australian research into language and literacy	10
The international context	15
Current approaches to the teaching of reading in Australia	24
Australian research on effects of phonics versus whole language instruction	27
Relevance of research findings for teaching practice	34
The way forward	36
References	37

Page 1

Page

### INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this review is to present an overview of the research literature relating to the acquisition of literacy. Its focus is on empirical studies that identify the processes underlying the acquisition of literacy, and the instructional strategies that are most effective in developing effective literacy. Its specific focus is on the acquisition of reading literacy.

#### The Context of the Review

Teaching children how to read and write has always been the primary objective of education or schooling. However, in recent years there have been concerns that this major objective has not been achieved, or has not been achieved at a satisfactory level, by many students by the end of the compulsory years of schooling. This has led to a renewed focus on literacy at both Commonwealth and state level, and the introduction of new policies and practices which are aimed at improving literacy outcomes. These policies and practices parallel developments that have occurred in a number of other countries, and have included setting standards or benchmarks to make explicit the standards of achievement expected at different levels of schooling, introducing programs of national or state-wide testing to monitor the extent to which these standards are being met, and examining the effectiveness of different instructional and intervention approaches designed to improve literacy outcomes.

At the same time there have been significant advances over the past two decades in the research on reading and on the processes underlying the acquisition of reading. This research has led to the questioning of some of the assumptions on which current teaching practices have been based, and have identified some of the critical factors associated with the acquisition of reading skills.

This review clearly cannot hope to cover in any depth the vast and growing literature on the development of reading literacy. Nor would it seem useful to attempt to duplicate work that has already been done in terms of reviewing the literature and drawing from such a review the implications for teaching practice. Rather the review will draw on the work already undertaken by experts and expert committees, with the aim of presenting as clearly and succinctly as possible the main issues that have been covered in these reviews, and the implications that are of particular relevance to the Australian scene. In this sense, the review will be an attempt to pick out from the vast literature on reading literacy the 'plums' that might inform educators and educational administrators of the essential findings to emerge from the research literature, and the implications of these findings for teaching practice and educational policy.

## **DEFINITION OF LITERACY**

Literacy has been defined in many different ways, each of which reflects a different theoretical orientation.

A broader definition of literacy is usually adopted by those who see literacy development as a social process, which develops through exposure to literacy practices within a particular environment and which cannot be separated from its social and cultural context. This view rejects the notion that literacy can be defined in terms of a set of narrow psychological skills, and places emphasis on literacy as a process of deriving meaning from text. This definition of literacy usually covers other language skills such as listening and speaking, as well as a range of other skills including the interpretation of visual material, the use and understanding of mathematical concepts and notation, computer 'literacy', and critical thinking.

A narrower definition of literacy, usually referred to as the conventional or commonsense view of literacy, defines literacy as the ability to read and write; that is, to convert the written text to the spoken word and vice versa. Under this view the acquisition of literacy is defined in terms of acquiring the ability to both comprehend and produce written text.

These two opposing definitions of literacy are associated with different approaches to the study of literacy development. Those who define literacy in a broader sense and who view literacy as a social process (the socio-cultural approach) have focused on studies designed to observe literacy practices in different contexts, and to identify the ways in which literacy is used for different social purposes. Those who define literacy in a narrower sense and view literacy as essentially the ability to read and write (the cognitivepsychological approach) have focused on studies which have sought to identify the processes underlying the ability to read and write, and how these are developed.

Inevitably these two views of literacy have resulted in different types of research study. The socio-cultural view of literacy has led to descriptive studies using ethnographic and case study approaches, which document in considerable detail the interactions between the literacy learner and their environment in a range of different contexts, including the home, the community and the school. The cognitive-psychological approach has led to experimental studies designed to identify the specific processes that underlie the acquisition of reading and writing, and the ways in which these processes can be enhanced by specific teaching<sup>1</sup>.

For the purposes of this review, the narrow definition of literacy will be adopted. This will allow the review to focus on those aspects of literacy that are seen as of critical importance in an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A useful presentation of these two opposing views of literacy development is provided in the two special issues of the *Journal of Research* in *Reading* (Vol. 16, 2, September 1993, and Vol. 18, 2, September 1995) which present the positions of both the 'new literacy group', represented by Street, Bloome, and their colleagues (in the 1993 issue), and the response of the reading research group, represented by Oakhill and Beard, Gough, Stanovitch, Perfetti, Ehri, Goswami, Juel, and others (in the 1995 issue); the paper by Gough in the 1995 issue is particularly useful in terms of clarifying the distinction between the positions held by these two groups.

educational context. The adoption of this definition recognises that the school has a special responsibility in terms of teaching children how to read and write. While speaking and listening skills are acquired at an early age in the home environment, relatively few children learn to read and write before they come to school, and it has traditionally been the role of the school to teach children the skills of reading and writing, as distinct from the skills of listening and speaking. The teaching of more advanced skills and knowledge leading to the development of critical thinking skills in other areas of the school curriculum is also dependent, at least to a large extent, on the ability to read and write. It can therefore be argued that, from an educational perspective, the ability to read and write provides the foundation for the development of the further skills that are associated with the definition of literacy in its broader context. That is, the definition of a literate person as an educated person, rather than as simply a person who can read and write.

## A MODEL OF READING AND WRITING

Both reading and writing depend on the ability to relate print to speech. Both therefore require knowledge of the language that underlies the printed and spoken forms of a specific language (such as English), and both require knowledge of the language's orthography (that is, the rules that relate the printed form of the language to the spoken form).

In so far as reading and writing are both dependent on the ability to convert print to speech and speech to print, they are often regarded as different manifestations or mirror images of a single common skill, and a measure of one is often used as an index of proficiency in the other. However, the skills that underlie the recognition and comprehension of written text are somewhat different to the skills that underlie the ability to produce wellconstructed text, and from this point of view reading and writing may be regarded as composed of different but related sets of skills.

The basic model of reading and writing that underlies much of the current scientific research on the acquisition of literacy is most easily understood in terms of the simple model described by Juel, Griffith and Gough (1986). According to this model reading and writing are each composed of two distinct abilities; decoding (or word recognition) and comprehension in the case of reading, and spelling and ideation (or the generation and organisation of ideas) in the case of writing. Thus word recognition combined with the skills involved in listening comprehension provides the basis for reading comprehension, while spelling combined with the generation of ideas provides the basis for writing.

While the specific skills underlying the acquisition of reading and writing are different, both share a common denominator, in that both are dependent on the set of spelling-sound correspondence rules of the language, or what is termed in the literature the orthographic cipher.

Knowledge of the cipher is therefore seen as critical to the acquisition of literacy, since it is a basic component of both decoding, which underlies the acquisition of reading, and spelling, which underlies the acquisition of writing. Knowledge of the cipher is in turn dependent on two main factors; phonemic awareness, or the knowledge that the spoken word can be broken down into a series of specific sounds, and exposure to print, which provides models of written text and specific letters and words, which can then be connected to specific sound sequences. Phonemic awareness and exposure to print are therefore the two factors that are most critical to the acquisition of literacy.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The three phonological processes generally recognised as related to reading are phonemic or phonological awareness, phonological coding in working memory, and rapid access to phonological information in long term memory. Of these three processes, phonological awareness has been found to have the strongest causal relationship to word reading skill, and is also the most amenable to instruction, which is why it is usually noted in the literature as being critical to the acquisition of literacy.

While word recognition and spelling are essential to the ability to read and write, these abilities do not in themselves ensure comprehension of complex text or production of coherent and well organised writing. These higher level skills are dependent on a range of factors, including vocabulary knowledge, familiarity with particular areas of knowledge, knowledge and values associated with membership of a particular social or cultural group, and critical thinking skills. However, these higher level skills apply equally to effective use of spoken language. What distinguishes reading and writing skills from listening comprehension and speaking skills is the fact that these skills are expressed though the medium of written text rather than through the medium of the spoken language.

Research evidence that has been accumulated over the past two to three decades has supported this model of the basic processes underlying the acquisition of literacy, and particularly the important role played by phonemic awareness in the development of reading and writing skills. While there may be differences in the specific models proposed by different researchers to explain exactly how phonemic awareness, word recognition and spelling skills are acquired, and how these skills interact in the process of learning to read and write, there is general agreement about the overall model and the crucial role of phonemic awareness and recognition of spellingsound correspondences in the development of reading and writing.



Once children have acquired an understanding of the alphabetic principle, and are able to translate print to sound through the process of phonological recoding, this provides a basis for self-teaching based on the independent generation of target pronunciations for novel orthographic strings. That is to say, as children encounter new words or letter cluster strings they are able to apply phonological recoding to generate the sound equivalents of the unfamiliar words or strings, and in this way to acquire the detailed orthographic representations that are necessary for rapid, autonomous visual word recognition (see Share, 1995). While phonological recoding remains essential to this process, other factors such as visual processing skills and short term and long term phonological memory play a role and may lead to individual differences in the speed and efficiency with which the child is able to increase the number of words which are recognised visually with a minimum of phonological processing. This process depends on the frequency of exposure to new words. Thus the more a child reads, the greater the number of words that they will be able to recognise visually, thus enabling more fluent reading and the freeing up of the cognitive demands of the task to allow for more cognitive focus on comprehension as opposed to decoding. This leads to what Stanovitch (1986) has termed the Matthew effect, with the better readers reading more and therefore increasing their exposure to print, and consequently their word

recognition skills and their fluency and speed of reading, while poor readers, who read more slowly, will have less exposure to print and therefore less opportunity to build up a store of visually recognised words, thus spending more of their time and cognitive energy on decoding unfamiliar words, and therefore falling further behind in their reading achievement.

This self-teaching mechanism is based on two fundamental prerequisites – symbol-sound knowledge and phonemic awareness. Neither of these skills develop spontaneously through exposure to print. This has obvious implications for reading instruction. As Coltheart (1980) has argued, getting children ready to read means teaching them the skills they will need in order to read. That is to say, explicit teaching of symbol-sound relationships and phonemic awareness.

### **FOCUS OF THE REVIEW**

Research on the acquisition of literacy has tended to focus more on the acquisition of reading skills than on the acquisition of writing skills, although a number of studies have looked at the development of spelling and the role of invented spelling in the development of writing (see, for example, Nicholson, 2000, Chapter 9). This emphasis on reading can probably be attributed to two main factors. First, the fact that there is much greater emphasis in the school curriculum on the teaching of reading than on the teaching of writing, and second, the fact that standardised assessments are more easily applied to reading than to writing, which makes the acquisition of reading skills more amenable to scientific study than the acquisition of writing skills (see, for example, Nelson and Calfee, 1998).

This review will therefore focus more specifically on research into the acquisition of reading skills, which form the basis for the development of reading literacy. Following Tunmer (1999), reading literacy may be defined as comprising the following abilities:

- the ability to read at a level necessary for self-sustained growth in literacy
- the ability to understand in print what would be expected to be understood in the corresponding spoken language by native speakers of the same age; and
- the ability to understand, use and reflect on written texts in order to achieve one's goals, to develop one's knowledge and potential and to participate in society.

## THE AUSTRALIAN CONTEXT

There have been a number of Australian reports and publications relating to literacy and literacy development over the past ten years. These have included policy documents, such as the 1991 policy statement Australian Language and Literacy Policy (DEET, 1991), and the 1998 publication Literacy for All: The Challenge for Australian Schools (DETYA, 1998), outlining the National Literacy and Numeracy Plan agreed to by all Commonwealth, State and Territory Education Ministers in 1997. There have also been reports of review committees such as the 1992 report *The Literacy* Challenge, by the House of **Representatives Standing Committee on** Employment (1992), and results of national and state surveys including the report on the National School English Literacy Survey (Masters and Forster, 1997), as well as publications relating to the development of national standards, profiles and benchmarks.

Two summary reviews of the research literature on factors related to the development of literacy and research on the teaching and learning of literacy have been undertaken at ACER over the past five years; the paper on Factors Related to the Development of Literacy (de Lemos and Harvey-Beavis, 1995), prepared as one of the background papers for the National School English Literacy Survey, and the review of literature prepared for the *Literacy* Advance Project commissioned by the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria (Ainley, Fullarton, Frigo and Owen, 1999). Other notable Australian reviews of the research literature on reading and literacy development include the summary of the research

literature on learning to read, published by the Tasmanian Department of Education and Arts (1994), the review of research into language and literacy by Freebody and Gilbert (1999), and the review of recent developments in language and literacy development by Bowey (2000). The Tasmanian publication was directed to teachers, and intended to provide them with a knowledge base that would inform their teaching practice and lead to more effective teaching strategies based on established evidence relating to the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading. The Freebody and Gilbert review provides a broad overview of Australian research in the area of literacy and language over the past 30 years, while the Bowey review provides an overview of current theoretical research on the acquisition of reading and the implications of this research in understanding the underlying causes of reading difficulties.

This review is designed to supplement rather than to duplicate these various reports and reviews, focusing specifically on the findings that are of most significance in terms of identifying the critical factors that are related to literacy development, and the teaching practices and strategies that are most effective in improving literacy outcomes.

## FOCUS OF AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH INTO LANGUAGE AND LITERACY

The review on research into language and literacy by Freebody and Gilbert (1999) provides a useful starting point for this review in that it traces the major factors that have influenced Australian research in this area over the past 30 years, and as such provides a framework for placing current developments in perspective.

The authors of this review point to the enormity of their task in terms of the scope, complexity and time frame covered by the review, and acknowledge that their review is necessarily selective, and influenced by their own view of what is important and consequential about the last 30 years of work in this area.

Australian research into language and literacy is considered under two main headings: developments in theorising and research methodologies applied to language and literacy, and distinctive domains of research.

Under the heading of theoretical and methodological developments, Freebody and Gilbert note the shift in emphasis from the paradigms derived from educational assessment and testing, which dominated research on language and literacy in the 1950s and 1960s, to new paradigms that have emerged, derived from sociological and linguistic perspectives, and which define language and literacy in terms of socially constructed practices.

Some reference is made in this section to research deriving from the cognitive psychological model, which has emanated mainly from university departments of psychology or special education units in faculties of education. Reference is also made to Chall's 1967 survey of the research literature on reading acquisition, and the subsequent 'great debate' between holistic and analytic methods of teaching reading. The work of Australian researchers following this tradition is noted (Andrews, 1989, 1992; Byrne and Fielding-Barnsley, 1989). While recognising that research efforts in these directions have broad applicability, it is noted that their influence has been restricted to debates in special education and psychology, and that the diminished visibility of this line of research in the Australian context relates to influences coming from other sources. Specific reference is made to the 1966 international seminar at Dartmouth College in the United States<sup>3</sup>, convened to consider critical problems in the conceptualisation of language and literacy education, and the extent to which the impact of this seminar and the research traditions it authorised dominated Australian language and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is of some interest to note that Freebody and Gilbert describe this seminar as attended by 'language research teams' from North America and the United Kingdom, while Dixon's (1967) report on this conference describe it as attended by a group of 50 people 'all concerned in one way or another with the teaching of English'. The topics covered by the conference related to the teaching of English as a subject at both primary and secondary level rather than the acquisition of literacy or reading skills, and was attended mainly by professors and lecturers in English in University departments of Education or in teacher training institutions, rather than by researchers in reading, linguistics or language acquisition.

literacy discourses and their attendant research enterprises for the ten years to follow. The influence of British researchers such as Britten, Burgess, Martin and Rosen<sup>4</sup>, based at the Institute of Education at the University of London, is also noted, and the extent to which their views dominated theorisations of language and literacy research in Australia through the early 1980s.

This review by Freebody and Gilbert documents the influences underlying the shift in emphasis from studies based on experimental designs and quantitative assessment in the 1960s and 1970s, to studies, from the early 1980s onwards, that are based on more descriptive methods derived from sociological models. These methods include those based on text linguistics, which use documentary methods to analyse the conventions of spoken and written language, as well as ethnographic methods, deriving from both anthropological and sociological traditions, which utilise observational methods of documenting material and interactional patterns (as in anthropological studies), as well as the analysis of texts and interactions in order to apply critical theories of social organisation, patterns of dominance and control, and avenues for change motivated by cultural and social equity (as in sociological studies).

## Research Studies on Language and Literacy funded by DETYA

The major source of funding for Australian research into language and literacy comes from the Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA), and particularly from the *Children's Literacy National Projects*  Programme (CLP). This program commenced in 1992 and continued to 1996, after which it was incorporated into the Commonwealth's broadbanded *Literacy Programme, Grants for National Literacy Strategies and Projects*. Over the period 1992 to 1996 sixteen national projects were funded under the *Children's Literacy National Projects Programme*. These projects were expected to improve understanding of issues relevant to the national delivery of high quality children's literacy programs within government and non-government schools.

A summary of the findings of these sixteen projects and their implications for future literacy research and professional development strategies to improve literacy teaching practices in classrooms was put together following the 1998 Researchers' Conference organised by the Literacy Section of the Literacy and Special Programmes Branch of DETYA. This conference was designed to bring representatives from each of the projects together to focus on directions for future national literacy research and appropriate professional development based on the CLP research. The outcomes of this conference were reported in two volumes: an Executive Summary, which describes the CLP and provides an overview of the main themes of these projects and a summary version of the position papers and presentations on each project, and a Conference Report, which includes in addition to the above a programme evaluation, together with detailed appendices containing a summary of key findings and recommendations from all sixteen CLP projects (Gunn, 1999).

While these sixteen projects covered a range of topics, they were in most cases descriptive studies of literacy practices in different contexts. Of the sixteen studies, six focused on literacy practices in both the home or community context and the school context, while five focused on aspects of literacy in the school or classroom context. Three of the projects focused on assessment and reporting procedures, one on the relationship between first language development and second language acquisition, and one on the development of a classroom resource to support the use of oral language as a tool for learning. In most cases the methodology was based on descriptive methods, including observation and analysis of relevant documents, and in many of the studies intensive case studies of individual children, families, teachers, classes or schools constituted a major part of the study. The studies covered both primary and secondary level, with only one study focusing on the acquisition of early literacy skills. Relatively few provided any hard data in terms of measures of the literacy achievement of students, or data that would allow for any analysis of the relationships between specific school or background variables and literacy achievement. No studies focused on an examination of the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading, or on the effectiveness of different types of intervention strategies for students at risk. From this perspective, these studies fall outside the focus of this particular review.

#### Other Australian Research into Reading and Literacy Development

Other sources of funding for Australian research into literacy and reading development include research grants from the Australian Research Council, funding from state education systems, and postgraduate research studies funded through the university system. Funding from the Australian Research Council, as compared with funding through the DETYA CLP program, has tended to cover a more diverse range of studies reflecting different theoretical and methodological viewpoints, and it is from this source that most of the studies of reading development based on a cognitive-psychological approach and employing an experimental methodology have been funded. These studies have been undertaken mainly by psychologists in university departments of psychology or special education, confirming the pattern noted by Freebody and Gilbert (1999), and have focused on basic research into the processes underlying reading development. The work of these researchers is perhaps best represented in the collection of papers published in the 1996 Special Issue of the Australian Journal of Psychology<sup>5</sup>, and more recently the collection of papers on language processes and problems published in the latest issue of the Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist.<sup>6</sup> The papers in the 1996 Special Issue of the Australian Journal of Psychology were presented at a symposium on *Reading and* Developmental Dyslexia, which was held at the University of Tasmania in February

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Australian Journal of Psychology, Volume 48, Number 3, 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist, Vol. 17, Number 1, 2000).

1996. This symposium, funded mainly by the ARC under their Special Research *Initiative Program*, brought together 12 Australian researchers, all of whom had received their research funding from the ARC, to discuss and review their work in the reading area. As noted by Pratt and Coltheart<sup>7</sup>, the issues covered and the emphases of the different contributors varied, but all researchers at this symposium were firmly of the view that an understanding of the alphabetic principle and a knowledge of sound letter correspondences underlie the development of proficient reading. They also noted the concerns of the participants that many education programs currently used in Australia and elsewhere do not give sufficient recognition to the development of the fundamental skills involved in word decoding. While the research reported in these papers clearly has implications for teaching practice, these studies have generally had little impact on systemwide approaches to the teaching of reading or teacher understandings of the processes underlying the acquisition of reading.

Systematic evaluations of specific teaching approaches or interventions on student outcomes are relatively rare in Australia, but an evaluation of the Victorian *Early Years Literacy Program* is currently being undertaken by Hill and Crévola at the University of Melbourne (Crévola and Hill, 1998) while the Catholic Education Commission of Victoria is funding an evaluation of the impact of different approaches to the teaching of literacy in Victorian Catholic schools (Ainley and Fleming, 2000). A study of the effectiveness of Reading Recovery was undertaken in New South Wales in 1991 (Center, Wheldall, Freeman, Outhred and McNaught, 1995), and more recently an evaluation of the Macquarie University Schoolwide Early Language and Literacy Program (SWELL), (Center, Freeman and Robertson, 1998; 2001a; 2001b).

#### Summary of Australian Research on Reading and Literacy Development in Recent Years

From the Freebody and Gilbert review of Australian research into language and literacy and the summary of projects funded by the DETYA Children's Literacy National Projects Programme, it is clear that Australian research into language and literacy over the past two decades has been dominated by the view that literacy is a socio-cultural phenomenon that cannot be separated from its social context. As a consequence, the bulk of the research into literacy, and particularly the research funded through the DETYA CLP program, has been research into literacy practices in a variety of social contexts, in which the dominant research methods are descriptive and ethnographic, with an emphasis on observational and case study techniques.

At the same time, there is an active group of researchers, based mainly in university departments of psychology and special education, and more recently including people with a background in speech pathology<sup>8</sup>, who have undertaken research into the development of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Pratt and Coltheart, Guest Editorial, *Australian Journal of Psychology*, Volume 48, Number 3, 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, for example, comment by Janet Fletcher, in her Guest Editorial for the Special Issue of the *Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist* (Vol 17, No 1, 2000).

processes underlying the acquisition of reading. This research is in general based on a cognitive psychological model, and applies scientific and experimental approaches to the study of reading development.

There is relatively little Australian research which has involved the systematic evaluation of educational programs designed to enhance literacy skills. This is despite the widespread adoption of programs such as the Western Australian First Steps Program and the Victorian Early Years Literacy Program, as well as intervention programs such as Reading Recovery. There have also been various state assessment programs that have been adopted at primary and school entry level, presumably on the assumption that such assessments will have a positive effect on student outcomes. However there is as yet no cumulative body of research which can be used as a basis for evaluating the impact of these programs or initiatives on students' literacy achievement.

## THE INTERNATIONAL CONTEXT

While the socio-cultural approach has its supporters in other countries, it is less dominant and has not been as influential in terms of its impact on educational policy and research as has been the case in Australia. This is particularly evident in the United States, where a series of reports published over the last ten years has been influential in drawing attention to the findings of research in the reading area, and the implications of this research for teaching practice and educational policy.

There is now an international body of research on the processes underlying the acquisition of reading. Researchers in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, New Zealand and Australia have contributed to this research, as well as researchers in a number of European countries. While recognising the contribution of researchers from all these countries to this accumulated body of research, this review draws mainly on recent United States reports which have sought to synthesise the available research evidence relating to the acquisition of reading and the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading, and the implications of this research for teaching practice.

The most recent of these reports is the Report of the National Reading Panel convened by the Director of the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, at the request of the United States Congress, in order to assess the status of research-based knowledge on reading, including the effectiveness of various approaches to teaching children to read (National Reading Panel, 2000). This report is particularly significant in that the Panel decided to adopt a set of rigorous standards to assess the efficacy of materials and methodologies used in the teaching of reading and in the prevention or treatment of reading disabilities. The standards adopted were the same as those applied to research into the efficacy of interventions in psychological and medical research, on the basis that the standards applied to determining the efficacy of educational interventions should be no less rigorous than those applied to determining the efficacy of behaviourally based interventions, medications or medical procedures proposed for use in the prevention or treatment of medical or psychological conditions affecting the person's physical or psychological health.

If this approach were to be applied to other areas of education and educational research, it could well mark a turning point in the history of education. Up to now innovative educational practices and interventions have been adopted without any requirement for researchbased evidence as to their effectiveness or their impact on children's learning or other aspects of their social or psychological development (including the possibility of unintended negative effects). The application of a new set of standards requiring evidence of the efficacy of any proposed new intervention or initiative, including evidence relating to any possible unintended 'side-effects', would have significant implications for education. While it may be argued that educational interventions do not carry the same levels of risk as medical interventions. and the same standards are not therefore

applicable, there is nevertheless a good case to argue that students and their teachers should not be subjected to changes in teaching methodology or educational practices unless there is evidence to support the supposed beneficial effects of the change in practice. In an era of continuously changing policies and practices in education, a more measured approach which involves an investigation of the impact of any proposed change prior to its widespread adoption could well have beneficial effects all round.

In order to understand the context in which this panel was requested, at the highest level of government, to assess the research-based knowledge relating to the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading, it is necessary to understand the background to this request and particularly the heated and at times acrimonious educational debate that preceded it.

## Predecessors to the Report of the National Reading Panel

Prior to the release of the report of the National Reading Panel there were four landmark reports on the status of reading instruction in the United States, each regarded as providing an authoritative view of the research evidence relating to the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading at the time of their publication.

The first of these reports was Jean Chall's influentional book *Learning to Read, the Great Debate*, published in 1967. This was followed in 1985 by the report *Becoming a Nation of Readers*, by Anderson,

Hiebert, Scott and Wilkinson. Marilyn Adams' book *Beginning to Read: Thinking and Learning About Print,* was published in 1990, and the report *Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children,* edited by Snow, Burns and Griffin, was published in 1998<sup>9</sup>.

Each of these reports was commissioned or funded by a major national body. Chall's study, undertaken over the period 1962 to 1965, was funded by a grant from the Carnegie Corporation, while the Adams' study, undertaken over the period 1987 to 1989 at the Reading Research and Education Centre at the Centre for the Study of Reading at the University of Illinois, was funded, in part, by the Office of Educational Research and Improvement. In the case of these two reports there was a single author who worked with a group of advisors. The Anderson et al report, published in 1985, was funded by the Commission on Reading of the National Academy of Education, and while conducted under the aegis of the funding body, the content of the report clearly reflected the views of the joint authors. The Snow et al report was undertaken under the auspices of the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences, and was funded and jointly sponsored by three federal agencies; the Office of Special Education Programs in the Department of Education, the Office of Educational Research and Improvement – Early Childhood Institute in the Department of Education, and the National Institute on Child Health and Human Development – Human Learning and Behaviour Branch. The report itself was prepared over a period of three

<sup>9</sup> A historically based review of this report, which identifies the links between this report and its predecessors, is provided by Pearson (1999).

years by a Committee made up of experts drawn from the fields of cognitive psychology, language development, special education, medicine and literacy education. In this case the authorship of the report is less clear, although it can probably be assumed that different sections of the report were prepared by different members of the Committee, with a final draft prepared by the editors and approved by the Committee. As Pearson (1999) points out, given a Committee representing different philosophical positions on both methodological and curricular questions, the process of arriving at conclusions and recommendations that were acceptable to all members of the Committee must have involved a difficult process of negotiation and compromise to reach consensus.

#### Taking each of these reports in order.

Jeanne Chall's book 'Learning to Read: the Great Debate' was a response to the debate regarding the role of phonics in learning to read. While this topic has been the subject of debate over many years, it reached a peak in the United States in the 1950s, with the publication in 1955 of Rudolph Flesch's book Why Johnny Can't Read. This book followed the shift in emphasis in the teaching of beginning reading from a code-based approach (first teach the alphabet, and the ability to read will follow) to a meaning-based approach (start by teaching children to recognise meaningful words (look-say), and they will gradually pick up the code). Flesch argued that written English is alphabetic, and thus phonetic, and that phonic instruction is the only natural system of teaching children to read. Mastery of the alphabetic code is therefore the key to learning to read, and the failure of many children to learn to read was attributed to failure to teach children the code.

Chall's comprehensive review of existing methods and research on beginning reading was designed to provide a basis for evaluating the arguments in favour of these opposing approaches to the teaching of reading. The results of this review pointed to a consistent and significant effect of phonics instruction as a factor in reading achievement, and Chall's conclusions were supported by a series of further reviews and studies which were undertaken in response to this debate.<sup>10</sup>

Becoming a Nation of Readers, by Anderson et al (1985), was a response to the report A Nation at Risk: The Imperative for Educational Reform, by the National Commission on Excellence in Education, which warned of the risk for America of shortcomings in levels of literacy at the secondary level. The Anderson et al report reviewed the evidence relating to reading, including the processes involved in reading, the factors that affect reading development, and classroom practices relating to the teaching of reading. They came up with a set of recommendations with regard to the conditions likely to produce citizens who read with high levels of skill, and do so frequently and with evident satisfaction. These recommendations covered a range of practices relating to the home, the school, and the teacher,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See, for example, Bond and Dykstra (1967), Pflaum, Walberg, Karegianes and Rasher (1980), and Adams (1990). A more detailed review of Chall's study as well as the outcomes of the First Grade Reading Studies is provided in an unpublished paper by de Lemos (1997).

but insofar as instructional practices were concerned, there was a clear emphasis on the importance of welldesigned instruction in phonics and the continuing application of phonics to word identification and reading in meaningful contexts.

The review by Marilyn Adams, published in the book Beginning to Read: Thinking and Learning About Print, was undertaken in response to the ongoing and increasingly acrimonious debate between proponents of phonics and proponents of the whole language approach to the teaching of reading. This report provided a comprehensive review of the literature relating to the acquisition of reading, including an historical overview of the development from ideographic to alphabetic writing systems, and the central role of phonemic awareness and phonics in providing a basis for mapping symbols to sound in order to convert the spoken work to the written symbol, and vice versa. This review drew on the substantial body of research that had accumulated over the 1970s and 1980s. which demonstrated the link between phonemic awareness and subsequent achievement in reading, and indicated that successful phonics instruction is dependent on the child's ability to recognise the individual sounds within words and to break words down into their separate sounds. This work was widely guoted, and became recognised in the 1990s as the most authoritative review of the research literature relating to reading to date.

However, despite its wide acceptance within the research community, this report failed to resolve the reading debate. As a consequence a new synthesis of the research evidence relating to reading instruction, with a specific focus on strategies that might prevent reading failure, was commissioned by the US Department of Education and the US Department of Health and Human Services, resulting in the Snow et al report *Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children*.

This report differed from the Adams report in that it focused much more specifically on the implications of the research evidence for the teaching of reading, with a particular emphasis on the prevention of reading difficulties through intervention programs at the preschool level and effective teaching in the early years of schooling. The report identifies specific teaching goals at the preschool to Grade 3 level, together with recommended teaching strategies to achieve these goals. The report also reviews the research evidence relating to the effects of various school and home factors on early literacy development, as well as the effectiveness of different early intervention approaches for the prevention of reading difficulties in the case of children who might be at risk, or for assisting children who fail to achieve satisfactory progress in the early stages of learning to read.

## The Report of the National Reading Panel

While the Snow et al report on Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children was widely acclaimed, its findings and recommendations were not accepted by all, and it was felt that a more systematic review of the research evidence relating to the teaching of reading was required. This led to the constitution by the US Congress of the National Reading Panel, charged with the task of assessing the status of researchbased knowledge, including the effectiveness of various approaches to teaching children to read. The panel was composed of 14 individuals, including leading scientists in reading research, representatives of colleges of education, reading teachers, educational administrators, and parents. In order to cover the major topics designated the Panel established five subgroups to cover the areas of alphabetics, comprehension, fluency, teacher preparation and computer-linked instruction.

The Panel developed a set of rigorous scientific standards to evaluate the research on the effectiveness of different instructional approaches used in teaching reading skills. Regional hearings were held to allow public input, and to inform the panel of the issues that were considered important by the public, and the needs and concerns of those who would be required to implement the Panel's findings and determinations.

The key issues that emerged from the public hearings were:

 the importance of the role of parents and other concerned individuals in providing children with early language and literacy experiences that foster reading development

- the importance of early identification and intervention for all children at risk for reading failure
- the importance of phonemic awareness, phonics and good literature in reading instruction, and the need to develop a clear understanding of how best to integrate different reading approaches to enhance the effectiveness of instruction for all students
- the need for clear, objective, and scientifically based information on the effectiveness of different types of reading instruction and the need to have such research inform policy and practice
- the importance of the role of teachers, their professional development, and their interactions and collaborations with researchers, which should be recognised and encouraged
- the importance of widely disseminating the information developed by the Panel.

Their search of the research evidence relating to the teaching of reading identified a total of about 100 000 studies since 1966, and another 15 000 published prior to this time. Because of the large volume of studies, the panel selected only experimental and quasiexperimental studies for their review, and of these, only those that met rigorous scientific standards in reaching their conclusions.

The main conclusions reached by the panel, in the various aspects of reading investigated, are summarised in the following twp pages.

## 

#### Phonemic awareness

Teaching children explicitly and systematically to manipulate phonemes significantly improves children's reading and spelling abilities (an overall effect size of .86 on measures of phonemic awareness outcomes, an overall effect size of .53 on reading outcomes, and an overall effect size of .59 on spelling outcomes, based on a total of 96 comparisons from 52 studies).

The Panel's conclusion was that the evidence on this was so clear cut that this method should be an important component of classroom reading instruction.

#### **Phonics instruction**

Systematic phonics instruction (as compared with nonsystematic phonics instruction or no phonics instruction) produces significant benefits for children from Kindergarten to Grade 6, and for children having difficulties in learning to read (overall effect size of .44, based on 66 comparisons derived from 38 studies). The greatest improvements in reading are associated with synthetic phonics instruction<sup>11</sup> (effect size of .45), as compared with programs based on analysis and blending of larger units<sup>12</sup> (effect size of .34) or programs using other systematic approaches or where the specific nature of the approach was not specified (effect size of .27). It was also noted that the effects of systematic phonics teaching were greater at Kindergarten and Grade 1 (.56 and .54) than in Grades 2 to 6 (.27), and greater for children from low SES backgrounds (.66) as compared with children from high SES backgrounds (.44). Effects were also greater for children identified as 'at risk' (.58 at Kindergarten level and .74 at Grade 1 level), as compared with children identified as 'reading disabled' or where low achievement was associated with other cognitive difficulties (.32 and .15). Systematic phonics instruction also had a stronger effect on spelling for children in Kindergarten and Grade 1 (.67) than for children in Grade 2 to Grade 6 (.09).

The Panel's conclusion was that the evidence relating to the effectiveness of phonics instruction in improving reading outcomes was sufficiently strong to indicate that systematic phonics instruction should be a part of routine classroom instruction. It was however noted that because children vary in the skills they bring to the classroom, no single approach to teaching phonics can be used in all cases, and that teachers require training in different approaches to the teaching of phonics and how these approaches can be tailored to meet the needs of particular groups of students.

#### Oral reading

Guided oral reading (that is, reading aloud to the teacher, parent, or a fellow student) is important for developing reading fluency (average weighted effect size of .41). The highest impact was on reading accuracy (mean effect size of .55), followed by reading fluency (mean effect size of .44) and reading comprehension (mean effect size of .35). However, there was substantial variation in the effect sizes reported for these studies (from .05 to 1.48), as well as substantial variation in the sample sizes. Because of the great range in the nature and design of the studies examining the effects of guided reading, and in many cases the lack of either transfer or control data, only fourteen studies were found to be appropriate for inclusion in the meta-analysis from which the average weighted effect size was calculated.

## Silent reading

The panel was unable to determine whether reading silently to oneself helped to improve reading fluency. While hundreds of studies have demonstrated that better readers do more silent reading than poor readers, these studies are unable to determine whether independent silent reading improves reading skills or that good readers simply prefer to do more silent reading than poor readers. Although not discouraging the practice of silent reading as a classroom technique, the Panel recommended that this be done in combination with other types of reading instruction such as guided oral reading.

#### Vocabulary instruction

The Panel was unable to identify the best method for teaching vocabulary, and concluded that vocabulary should be taught both directly and indirectly, that repetition and multiple exposure to words, as well as computer technology, will assist vocabulary development, and that instruction should be based not on a single method but on a combination of methods.

#### **Reading comprehension**

With regard to the comprehension of text, the Panel found that reading comprehension is best facilitated by teaching students a variety of techniques and systematic strategies to assist in recall of information, question generation, and summarising of information. It also found that teachers must be provided with appropriate and intensive training to ensure that they know when and how to teach specific strategies.

#### Teacher training

The Panel noted that existing studies showed that training both new and established teachers generally produced higher student achievement, but that the research evidence is inadequate to draw clear conclusions about what makes training most effective. More quality research on teacher training was one of the major research needs identified by the Panel.

#### **Computers and reading**

With respect to computer technology, the Panel noted that there are too few definitive studies to draw firm conclusions, but the available information indicates that it is possible to use computer technology for reading instruction. The use of hypertext (highlighted text that links to definitions or related text) was noted as one possible teaching strategy. It was also noted that the use of computers as word processors might help students learn to read, as reading instruction is most effective when combined with writing instruction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Synthetic phonics involves teaching students explicitly to convert letters into phonemes and to blend phonemes to form words.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Such as clusters of letters forming a subpart of the word, as in onsets, rimes, phonograms, and spelling patterns.

This 800 page report of the National Reading Panel is the most comprehensive review yet of the research evidence relating to the factors underlying the acquisition of reading and the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading. But whether or not it will finally resolve the debate between proponents of the whole language approach to the teaching of reading versus the phonics approach, or the debate between those who view reading as essentially a social process as against those who view reading as a process of mapping the sounds of words to their written symbol, remains to be seen.

A possible criticism of the Report is that it fails to address many other issues that are of concern to teachers, educational administrators and the public. These concerns include the social factors related to the development of literacy, including the early development of literacy in the home and preschool environment, and the importance of home-school partnership in developing children's literacy skills and attitudes to literacy. Broader school factors associated with literacy development are also not addressed in the Report. Such factors would include the effects of class size and class grouping; the effectiveness of various intervention strategies such as Reading Recovery for children identified as having difficulty in learning to read; and what makes teachers and schools effective. Other issues not covered in the Report are the role of assessment and reporting in the improvement of student outcomes, and the setting of targets or benchmarks for student achievement.

While these are important issues to be considered, there are two lines of argument in defence of the stand taken by the Reading Panel.

It could be argued that the task of considering all of these issues was beyond the scope of a single Committee, which was appointed for the specific purpose of seeking answers to what was seen as the major source of debate and dispute within the educational community with regard to the effectiveness of different approaches to the teaching of reading. Resolving this debate could then open the way to considering other issues in a more objective and dispassionate way.

It could also be argued that the research evidence relating to these broader issues has not yet reached a state of consensus in which implications for teaching practice could be put into immediate effect. One of the main findings arising from the report of the National Research **Committee on Preventing Reading** Difficulties in Young Children<sup>13</sup>, which provided the basis for the work of the National Reading Panel, was that a sufficient degree of consensus had been reached by the members of this diverse Committee to provide an integrated picture of how reading develops and how reading instruction should proceed. However, the limitations of this report, as noted by the Reading Panel, was that it was a consensus document based on best judgement rather than a rigorous analysis of the research evidence. It did not specifically address how critical reading skills are most effectively taught and what instructional methods, materials and approaches are most beneficial for students of varying abilities.

This was the issue that the Reading Panel sought to address in their Report.

#### Summary of US Reports on Research Evidence Relating to Effective Instructional Practices

Over the period 1967 to 2000 a series of reports addressing the issue of effective instructional practices for the teaching of reading were undertaken in the United States. All of these reports came up with the same conclusion; that systematic teaching of phonics was a necessary and essential component of any program for the teaching of beginning readers. Despite the range of programs studied and the various other factors associated with reading achievement, there was a consistent finding of higher achievement being associated with programs that included systematic teaching of phonics.

However, all these reports recognised that systematic teaching of phonics was only one aspect of a comprehensive program for the teaching of reading, and that a successful teaching program needed to include a variety of other components, including exposure to a rich language and print environment with opportunities to develop listening and oral language skills through story reading and discussion, particularly in the early stages of learning to read; exposure to interesting picture and story books to encourage early reading and to develop children's motivation to read; and the provision of stimulating and challenging reading material matched to

their level of ability to ensure growth in reading development throughout the years of schooling. The phonics versus whole language debate was not therefore a debate about two opposing and mutually exclusive approaches to the teaching of reading. It was rather a debate about whether or not systematic teaching of phonics should be included as one aspect of the teaching of reading, in a broader program including both phonics approaches and the literacybased approaches favoured by whole language teachers.

While in recent years there has been a recognition of the need for more balanced approaches to the teaching of reading<sup>14</sup>, there remains a significant number of teachers whose approach is based on the theoretical assumptions that underlie the whole language approach, including the assumption that reading is acquired through a process of exposure to written language, in the same way that learning to speak is acquired through exposure to the spoken language, and that no formal teaching of reading is therefore required. Such teachers continue to oppose formal systematic teaching of phonics, in the belief that reading for meaning does not depend on the ability to decode text, and that the recognition of letter/sound relationships is only one of several different ways of deriving meaning from text, and of equal or even lesser importance than other strategies that can be applied, such as guessing from context.15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See, for example, Pressley (1998), and Beard (1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> As a postscript to this section, it should be noted that new legislation recently introduced in the United States (the *No Child Left Behind Act of 2001*, which was signed into law on 8 January 2002), places particular emphasis on the improvement of reading instruction, with one billion dollars allocated to *Reading First*, a program designed to improve reading achievement through the adoption of effective teaching practices based on scientific research, as documented in the report of the National Reading Panel.

## CURRENT APPROACHES TO THE TEACHING OF READING IN AUSTRALIA

The evidence relating to the factors underlying the acquisition of reading skills is based on research in a number of English-speaking countries, including Australia and New Zealand, as well as various other non-English speaking countries. It can therefore be assumed that the findings based on this international body of research are applicable to the Australian context.

In view of this it would seem appropriate to examine current practices in Australia to determine the extent to which these practices reflect current understandings of the processes underlying the acquisition of reading, and what is known about instructional strategies that are most effective in developing reading skills.

#### **Historical Overview**

Over the past 30 years, literacy teaching in Australia has been based mainly on the principles and practices underlying the whole language approach to the teaching of reading. As noted by the House of Representatives Committee on Employment Education and Training (1992), whole language has Australiawide support and virtually all curriculum guidelines on primary school literacy teaching are based on this approach. It has provided the theoretical basis for the literacy instruction of teachers in both their preservice and inservice training, including the influential Early Literacy Inservice Course (ELIC), which, as noted in the House of Representatives Report,

was undertaken by virtually all teachers of early literacy throughout Australia.<sup>16</sup>

In their review of literacy instruction in Australian primary schools, van Kraayenoord and Paris (1994) trace the historical developments that have influenced literacy education in Australia, and the emergence of the holistic approaches to literacy that have led to a common approach to the teaching of literacy in classrooms across Australia. The essential characteristic of a holistic approach to language learning, as identified by van Kraayenoord and Paris, is that it does not focus instruction on component skills or delay introduction of literacy uses until subskills have been mastered. According to van Kraavenoord and Paris, 'communication of meaning is the main goal, and Australian educators believe that invented spelling, incomplete decoding, text memorisation and other 'errors' in performance should be accepted in the child's developmental uses of literacy' (van Kraayenoord and Paris, 1994, page 219). It is this belief that distinguishes holistic and whole language approaches to the teaching of reading from approaches based on skill-based or direct teaching models.

The dominance of a single approach to the teaching of reading in Australia is attributed by van Kraayenoord and Paris to two main influences. First, the preservice and inservice training of teachers, which in Australia tends to be very uniform because the same sources

<sup>16</sup> A more detailed analysis of the philosophy and practice of whole language teaching in Australia and New Zealand is provided by Hempenstall (1996), and Tunmer and Chapman (2002).

of ideas and exemplary models are used by most institutions. And second, the influence of a few key individuals, who, as a result of the relatively small population and vast distances, have had a powerful influence in promoting particular models of literacy instruction. Among those mentioned by van Kraayenoord and Paris as having had a key role in influencing approaches to the teaching of literacy in Australia are Marie Clay (1972), Brian Cambourne (1988), Don Holdaway (1979), Donald Graves (1983), and Michael Halliday (1975), all of whom espoused holistic and whole language approaches to the teaching of reading.

While there seems to be an increasing recognition in Australia of the importance of phonemic awareness and the need for more balanced approaches to the teaching of reading, there is as yet little evidence of a major shift from the holistic and whole language approaches that continue to dominate literacy teaching practices in Australia. While the terms 'balanced' and 'structured' have been applied to describe some of the new literacy programs and initiatives that have been developed to address the literacy needs of children in the early years of schooling, these programs do not generally include direct systematic or explicit teaching of phonics. These programs would therefore correspond to what Foorman et al (1998), in their study of the role of instruction in learning to read, describe as the implicit or indirect approach, in which instruction in the alphabetic code is seen as incidental to the act of making meaning from print (see also, Pressley, 1998, for a description of whole language versus balanced programs of literacy instruction).

#### Evidence Relating to the Use of Phonics in Australian Programs of Reading Instruction

Precise information on the extent to which systematic teaching of phonics is included as a part of the regular teaching program in Australian schools is difficult to locate. In the case of New South Wales, Center, Freeman and Robertson (1998) note the lack of uniformity in early literacy instructional practices in the kindergarten year, and the fact that more recently trained teachers tend to use a whole language approach, because this is the philosophy that has been adopted by most teacher training institutions over the past 15 years. They observe that more experienced teachers are more likely to use a more phonically based approach, but because early literacy teaching does not occupy a large part of a teacher's preservice training, many recently graduated teachers tend to learn on the job, adopting the methods that are characteristic of the specific school to which they are appointed.

Some evidence on the literacy programs provided to support students with learning difficulties is available from the survey of schools undertaken as a part of the DETYA funded study on primary students with learning difficulties in literacy and numeracy (Rohl, Milton and Brady, in Louden et al, 2000). While the focus of the study was on students with learning difficulties, the results of this survey do provide some information that is indicative of the nature of the teaching programs provided by schools.

Data from the 377 schools that responded to this survey indicated that the most widely used programs to support the literacy learning of students with learning difficulties are *First Steps*  (49 per cent), *Reading Recovery* (46 per cent), and the Victorian *Early Years Literacy Program* (19 per cent). In addition, 32 per cent of schools indicated that they were using some form of direct instruction. The direct instruction programs listed included some phonics-based programs such as THRASS; the Macquarie University Reading Program, SWELL; and the Heather Harvey Intensive Reading Program. However these programs were mentioned by less than one per cent of the schools that responded to the survey.

From these responses it is clear that the preferred approach to the support of students with reading difficulties are classroom and intervention programs which are based essentially on a whole language approach to the teaching of reading (that is, meaning emphasis as opposed to code emphasis approaches, where the teaching of phonics is implicit rather than explicit). This includes Reading Recovery, which is based on a more intensive one-to-one version of whole language teaching strategies.<sup>17</sup> Given that students with learning difficulties are the group most likely to require direct instruction in reading skills, the overall total of 32 per cent of schools providing this form of teaching for students who have been identified as having a learning difficulty is likely to provide an overestimate of the extent to which direct instruction is used in regular classroom teaching. It should also be noted that the kinds of programs included under the general term 'direct instruction' are not further specified, and that this term probably covers a wide range of different teaching strategies with varying degrees and types of instruction, which may not necessarily include direct teaching of the alphabetic code.

In addition to the data from the school survey, the DETYA funded study on primary students with learning difficulties also collected information from systems across all states and sectors on the programs and strategies that were being implemented in each system to assist students with learning difficulties. A listing of the main programs and strategies mentioned by systems is provided by Rivalland and House (in Louden et al, 2000, pages 138–140). While not exhaustive, this listing is said to provide a general picture of the patterns of support provided throughout Australia.

A total of 164 programs and strategies were listed. Of these, 27 (16 per cent) referred to programs which had a focus on phonics. An analysis of this listing indicated that phonics-based programs were more likely to be included among the programs and strategies listed by the independent sector (30 per cent of the 50 programs listed), as compared with the Catholic sector (14 per cent of the 51 programs listed) or the Government sector (8 per cent of the 63 programs listed).

These results, while indicative only, are nevertheless consistent with the evidence from other sources that whole language approaches to the teaching of reading still dominate the Australian scene, and while specific programs based on alphabetic code instruction are beginning to be used, particularly in independent schools, these remain the exception rather than the rule.

## AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH ON EFFECTS OF PHONICS VERSUS WHOLE LANGUAGE INSTRUCTION

There have been few studies in Australia which have been designed specifically to look at the effectiveness of a phonicsbased versus a whole language approach to the teaching of early reading. Some relatively small school-based studies of the effects of direct instruction programs that include specific teaching of phonics have been reported, but these have generally been based on very small samples, and results are generally reported in terms of actual gains versus expected gains based on norm-referenced measures, without any control to serve as a comparison group (Lockery and Maggs, 1982). However, some data relating to the effectiveness of more structured programs including some explicit teaching of phonics is available from the ACER research-based evaluation of the Victorian pilot project on multi-age grouping (de Lemos, 1999), while a longitudinal study of the effectiveness of training in phonemic awareness at the preschool level has been reported by Byrne and Fielding-Barnsley (Byrne, 1998). Further information on the effectiveness of a program which includes specific instruction in sound/symbol correspondences and phonemic awareness is also provided by the evaluation of the Schoolwide Early Language and Literacy Program (SWELL), which was developed by a group of Macquarie University researchers in collaboration with researchers at the John Hopkins University in the United States (Center, Freeman and Robertson, 1998).

#### Data from the Victorian Multi-age Project

The ACER research-based evaluation of the Victorian pilot project on multi-age grouping was designed to examine the impact of multi-age grouping in the first three years of schooling on children's social development and academic achievement. For the purposes of this study teachers in both the pilot sample (with multi-age classes) and in the control sample (with predominantly single-grade classes) were asked to complete a questionnaire on various teaching and class grouping practices adopted in their teaching program. Two of the questions in this questionnaire related to the teaching of literacy.

The first of these questions asked teachers of Prep to Year 2 children to indicate whether their approach to the teaching of literacy was based on a whole language approach or a structured approach. Of the 272 teachers who responded to this guestion 77 per cent indicated that their teaching of literacy was based on a whole language approach, 17 per cent indicated that their program was based on a balanced or a mixed approach, incorporating elements of both the whole language approach and a structured approach, while 6 per cent indicated that they followed a structured program, based on the identification and systematic teaching of the subskills underlying the development of reading and writing. There were some differences between the teachers in the pilot and control schools in terms of the proportion who followed a whole language approach (87 per cent in the

multi-age group and 69 per cent in the control group) and the proportion who followed a structured approach (3 per cent in the multi-age group and 9 per cent in the control group).

The second of the two literacy questions asked teachers about their approach to the teaching of phonics. In response to this question, 51 per cent of the teachers indicated that there was no specific teaching of phonics in their program, 22 per cent indicated that they included teaching of phonics as and when necessary (implicit phonics), while 27 per cent of teachers indicated that they included systematic teaching of phonics as a part of their teaching program. Again there was a difference between the pilot and the control schools in terms of the proportion of teachers who indicated that their program did not include any specific teaching of phonics (70 per cent in the case of the pilot schools as compared with 36 per cent in the case of the control schools).

Data from this project also provided information on the relationship between teaching program and student outcomes in reading, since all the children in the evaluation study were assessed in their first year of school, and again at the end of their first, second and third years of schooling, on various measures of early literacy and reading skills.

In order to examine the effect of teaching program on student outcomes, a school measure based on overall teacher responses to these two questions was created, distinguishing between schools which in general adopted a whole language approach to the teaching of literacy with little or no emphasis on the teaching of phonics, and schools which adopted a more structured approach to the teaching of literacy with some emphasis on phonics. Comparisons of student outcomes in these two groups indicated little or no differences in the first year of school on the measures of early literacy, with the whole language group scoring higher on the Language Profile of the AGS Early Screening Profiles administered in the second term of school (effect size of -.12), and the structured program group scoring higher on the teacher assessment of reading skills at the end of the first year of school (effect size of .07). There was also little or no difference between these two groups on the measures administered in the second year of schooling, with the whole language group scoring higher on a Word Recognition test administered in the third term of school (effect size of -.05), and the structured program group scoring higher on the teacher assessment of progress in reading at the end of the school year (effect size of .04). However, in the third and fourth years of schooling the structured program group scored higher than the whole language group on the standardised measures of reading comprehension administered in the third and fourth years of schooling (with an effect size of .38 in Year 2 and an effect size .30 in Year 3). These findings of a long term positive effect for a more structured program and systematic teaching of phonics in the early years of schooling are consistent with the overseas evidence.

While not nationally representative, the data from this sample of schools provide some indication of the relative emphasis on whole language versus structured approaches to the teaching of reading in what is probably a fairly typical sample of Australian schools, and the extent to which explicit teaching of phonics is included as a part of the regular class program. It also provides some data on the effects of more structured versus less structured programs on student outcomes. These data were collected in 1995, so it is possible that there might have been some shift in emphasis as a consequence of the increasing recognition of the role of phonics and phonemic awareness in the early stages of learning to read. However, this study does provide a basis for examining changes in attitude to the systematic teaching of phonics over the last half decade.

#### Data on the effects of training in phonemic awareness at the preschool level

Australian data on the effectiveness of training in phonemic awareness at the preschool level is available from the series of studies by Byrne and Fielding-Barnsley (Byrne, 1998; Byrne and Fielding-Barnsley, 1991a, 1991b, 1993, 1995; Byrne, Fielding-Barnsley and Ashley, 2000). In this carefully designed longitudinal study samples of children in four preschools were randomly allocated to two groups, one of which underwent training in phonemic awareness, using the Sound Foundations program (Byrne and Fielding-Barnsley, 1992). A control group was exposed to the same set of materials for the same amount of time, but instead of training in phonemic awareness they were given practice in classifying items from the set of materials on attributes such as shape, colour, animacy, and edibility. The experimental group comprised a total of 64 children, with 62 children in the control group (after two children in the initial control sample left the region). There were some differences between the two groups on

the various measures administered prior to the training sessions. The control group scored marginally higher on the PPVT (effect size of -.10), the ability to name letters (effect size of -.04) and the recognition of common signs such as McDonald's (effect size of -.08). The experimental group scored marginally higher on the rhyming task (effect size of .14) and the identification of letters corresponding to a given sound (effect size of .16). There was no difference between the two groups on the Clay Concepts of Print test. At the conclusion of the program the children in the experimental group were found to perform better on measures of phonemic awareness (effect sizes of .43 and .39 on measures of phoneme identity and phoneme elision) and on a structured test of printed word decoding.

At the end of their first year of schooling (Kindergarten) the children in the experimental and control groups were assessed again on the measures of phonemic awareness, and also on measures of alphabet knowledge, word identification, pseudo-word identification and spelling. The children in the experimental group again performed better on the measures of phonemic awareness (effect sizes of .81 and .71 on measures of phoneme identity and phoneme elision), and also on a measure of pseudo-word identification (effect size of 1.1). The experimental group also scored higher on the measures of real word identification (effect size of .18) and spelling (effect size of .29), although these differences were not statistically significant. There was however no difference on the measure of alphabet knowledge (effect size of 0).

The superior performance of the experimental group on various measures of word reading, spelling, reading comprehension and listening comprehension was still evident at the end of Year 1 and at the end of Year 2. At the end of Year 1 the differences between the experimental and control groups were significant on the pseudoword reading task (effect size of 1.27), and were substantially higher (but not statistically significant) on the measure of real word reading (effect size of .67). The differences were however less marked on the measures of spelling (effect sizes of .03 to .15). At the end of Year 2 the differences between the experimental and control group were significant on the pseudo-word reading task (effect sizes of .98 and .95), and substantially higher (but not statistically significant) on the measures of reading real words, both regular and irregular (effect sizes of .55, .46 and .60), and on the measures of reading comprehension and listening comprehension (effect sizes of .69 and .40).

A further follow-up of these children was undertaken at the end of Year 3 (Byrne, 1998) and again at the end of Year 5 (Byrne, Fielding-Barnsley and Ashley, 2000). The Year 3 follow-up was based on 105 of the original 126 children (57 in the experimental group and 48 in the control group), while the Year 5 follow-up was based on 103 children, one less in each of the groups.

At the end of Year 3 the differences were significant on the pseudo-word reading test, but not on the other tests including measures of irregular word reading, reading comprehension and listening comprehension, and a measure of print exposure (the Title Recognition Test, adapted from Cunningham and Stanovich, 1990). Standard deviations are not reported for these results, so effect sizes cannot be calculated for these differences.

At the end of Grade 5, the experimental group scored significantly higher than the control group on three of the eight measures administered: the Word Attack subtest from the Woodcock Reading Mastery Tests – Revised (Woodcock, 1987), the Castles irregular word reading list (Castles, 1993), and the combined measure on the three word reading lists (nonwords, regular words and irregular words). The effect sizes for these differences were .34, .39 and .33. Although the experimental group also scored higher on the other tests administered (word identification; non word and regular word reading; Spelling; and Title Recognition), these differences were not statistically significant.

These results have been quoted at some length because they indicate substantial and lasting effects of phonemic training at preschool level on subsequent reading skills, without any further differential training between the experimental and control groups at school level. This finding is consistent with the findings reported by the US National Reading Panel, and support the accumulating evidence that phonemic awareness is one of the critical factors that underlie children's success in learning to read.

#### Evaluation of the Schoolwide Early Language and Literacy Program (SWELL)

The only other Australian evaluation of a program that includes systematic instruction in phonics that could be located is the evaluation of the SWELL program in NSW (Center et al, 1998, 2001a; 2001b). This evaluation was undertaken in 1995 to 1996, and was based on a sample of six schools, all of which qualified for Disadvantaged Schools funding on the basis of parental occupation. Two of these schools had started implementing the SWELL program in Kindergarten and Year 1 the previous year (1994), and four started implementing the SWELL program at the beginning of 1995.

The SWELL program is based on Stanovich's interactive-compensatory model of reading acquisition (Stanovich, 1980, 1984), and comprises three phases. The first phase, the Emergent Literacy Program, is designed to develop early concepts of literacy in the first three to six months of the kindergarten year through traditional top-down processes: that is, through exposure to a literature rich environment, including story-telling and retelling; Big Book activities (reading together); development of expressive and receptive language abilities; activities designed to develop sensitivity to phonological and syntactic awareness; and other early writing activities (such as using symbolic representation as in drawing, scribble, letters and words (with invented and conventional spelling) for communication of ideas. The second phase of the program, Becoming Literate, is introduced from about the middle of the second term of school, and comprises a formal literacy instruction program which supplements the ongoing emergent literacy activities, and focuses mainly on bottom-up processes, including sound/symbol correspondences (phonological recoding); phonological and phonemic awareness; and specific instruction in spelling and recognition of irregular words. This phase continues to about the

end of Year 1, by which time most children would be expected to have mastered the grapheme-phoneme correspondences that are necessary for independent reading, and the 'learning to read' stage, as defined by Chall (1983), has therefore been completed. The third phase of the program, Towards Literacy Competence, then returns to a top-down orientation, with a focus on developing listening and reading comprehension strategies as children move into the next stage of 'reading to learn'.

For the purposes of the evaluation, the children in Year 1 in the year preceding the introduction of the SWELL program formed the control group. These children, who had not had any exposure to the SWELL program in their kindergarten year, were assessed at the beginning of Year 1. Children who had participated in the SWELL program in the kindergarten year were then assessed at the beginning of Year 1 in the following year. This provided a control sample of 249 children and an experimental sample of 366 children. The comparison between these two groups was then used as the basis for evaluating the effectiveness of the SWELL program. The measures used for this purpose included the Burt Word Test, a standardised word recognition test, the Passage Reading Test, a measure of reading accuracy developed by Deno, Mirkin and Chiang (1982), and the Expressive Word Attack Skills Test, a criterion-referenced test of phonological recoding developed at the Special **Education Centre at Macquarie** University (1991). The results of this evaluation indicated that the children in the experimental group, after 12 months in the SWELL program, scored higher than the control group from the previous year on all three measures, with these

differences being statistically significant on the Passage Reading Test and the Expressive Word Attack Skills Test, but not on the Burt Word Test. Using the data on mean scores and standard deviations (adjusted for school effects) as reported by Center et al, the differences in terms of effect sizes were .08 on the Burt Word Test, .24 on the Passage Reading Test and .40 on the Expressive Word Attack Skills Test. A further evaluation was undertaken six months later, at the beginning of the third school term, at which point the experimental group of children had spent 18 months in the SWELL Program. By this time two schools had dropped out of the study, so this second evaluation was based only on those children in the initial control and experimental samples who remained at the schools that were still participating in the evaluation study, providing a sample of 47 children in the control group and 84 children in the experimental group. This second evaluation included the Passage Reading Test; the Expressive Word Attack Skills Test; the Developmental Spelling Test, developed by Tangel and Blachman (1992) to measure spelling proficiency by taking into account the number of phonemes represented and the level of orthographic representation; and the Diagnostic Reading Test (Waddington, 1988), which is a standardised test recommended for classroom use by the NSW Department of School Education. This latter covers word decoding, sightword knowledge, understanding of words, comprehension of sentences, the use of indirect cues, and obtaining meaning from direct speech. The results of this second evaluation at 18 months indicated that the children in the experimental group continued to score at a higher level than the control group

on all the measures used, and that these differences were statistically significant on all tests except the *Passage Reading Test*. Effects sizes calculated on the basis of the mean scores and standard deviations provided (adjusted for effects of school and 12 month measures) indicated an effect size of .24 on the *Passage Reading Test*, .58 on the *Expressive Word Attack Skills Test*, .40 on the *Diagnostic Reading Test* and .52 on the *Developmental Spelling Test*.

While this study was based on a relatively small sample of schools and students, and encountered some difficulties in implementation, the results are nevertheless consistent with the overseas research evidence which indicates that explicit instruction in the alphabetic code leads to improved outcomes in reading achievement, with the effect sizes obtained in this study generally comparable to those reported in the United States literature.

#### Limitations of Training in Phonemic Awareness and Phonics-based Instruction

While the evidence indicates that phonemic awareness is a strong predictor of success in learning to read, and that explicit instruction in phonics is a more effective teaching strategy than programs which provide little or no systematic instruction in phonics, this does not mean that all children will succeed in reading provided that they have acquired an understanding of the phonetic structure of words and have received explicit instruction in phonics. There will always be some children who will have difficulty in learning to read, whatever instructional strategy is adopted.

In discussing the results of their six year follow up at Grade 5, Byrne et al (2000) point out that early training in phonemic awareness at the preschool level is not in itself sufficient to prevent subsequent reading difficulties. That is to say, it does not have a vaccination effect in terms of preventing reading difficulties. They identified a small number of children (nine out of 56) in their experimental sample who were successful on the phonemic awareness training (that is, they achieved the pass criterion on the post intervention measures of phoneme identity and decoding), but nevertheless experienced difficulties in learning to read, and by Grade 5 were performing below the 5 per cent cut-off used to define children with a reading difficulty on one or more of the five reading tests administered at the end of Grade 5.

On the basis of a more detailed examination of this group of children, they identified what they termed a 'rate of responsiveness' or 'learning rate parameter', measured in terms of the time it took the children to reach a stable understanding of phoneme understanding in the initial training sessions, as indicated by the Session of Last Error measure (that is, the number of sessions it took before the child made no errors in the activities following the initial training on the target phoneme). This measure was found to be a strong predictor of subsequent reading progress over and above the final outcome measure of phoneme identity.

On the basis of these findings Byrne et al postulate a more general learning parameter, which determines not only the rate of responsiveness to the original instruction, but also the acquisition of higher level orthographic coding. That is, children who are slow to grasp ideas early in reading development, even though they finally grasp them, are also slow to acquire other principles that determine their rate of progress in learning to read.<sup>18</sup> Training in phonemic awareness or direct teaching of phonics is therefore not in itself sufficient to overcome reading difficulties in the case of children who are slow to respond or who have underlying problems in cognitive processing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> It would seem likely that this general learning parameter is also related to speed of processing, which is assumed to be the main factor underlying individual differences in general reasoning ability or the g factor in intelligence, see for example Anderson (1992) and Jensen (1998).

## RELEVANCE OF RESEARCH FINDINGS FOR TEACHING PRACTICE

This review has focused specifically on the research findings relating to the processes underlying the acquisition of reading and the evidence of instructional practices that are effective in improving reading outcomes. It has not addressed a range of other factors that are associated with literacy development.

This focus has been adopted for two reasons.

The first reason is that it is seen as providing a balance to the prevailing Australian literature on literacy development, in which the dominant emphasis has been on the social and cultural factors associated with literacy development. This emphasis has led to the assumption that in order to effect changes in children's literacy development it is necessary either to change the social and cultural environment of the child, or to adapt the school environment to more closely reflect the values and experiences of the child's home environment.

There would seem to be two major flaws in this approach.

One is that there is little evidence to indicate that any changes in the child's social and cultural environment, of the kind that might be brought about in the short term, would have any measurable effect on literacy outcomes.

The second is that there would seem to be a logical flaw in arguing that poor literacy outcomes, as measured in conventional terms, are associated with discrepancies between the values and expectations of the school as compared with the values and expectations of the home, and at the same time to argue that the way of improving literacy skills is to adapt the school environment to make it more like the home environment. While this might be seen as a misrepresentation of this argument, there is nevertheless an element of truth in it which needs to be addressed. At what point does one distinguish between respect for different cultural attitudes and practices, as well as the obvious need to make the school environment as friendly, accepting and supportive as possible, and the need to ensure that children are exposed to the kinds of learning experiences that are most likely to develop the skills and concepts that are necessary to achieve literacy and numeracy?

The second reason for focusing on evidence relating to the instructional strategies that might improve achievement in literacy learning is that this is more directly relevant to the issue of how literacy outcomes might be improved.

The teaching of reading is the specific responsibility of the school. While home factors clearly play a part in developing the language skills that form the basis for learning to read, and children enter school with varying levels of skills and from varying kinds of background, the research evidence tells us that it is possible to provide children with experiences that will develop the kind of skills that they need to be able to read, regardless of their current level of skill and their home background. While some flexibility in teaching approach is needed to cater for children who are at different levels, and whose rates of progress may differ, the research evidence indicates that the kinds of skill that underlie the reading process are universal, and apply to all children regardless of their particular cultural, language, or socio-economic background.

While parental values and attitudes may vary, and while these do need to be recognised and accommodated in the school program, most parents want their children to learn how to read, and expect that the school will teach them how to read.

Learning to read is only one aspect of the broader educational program. It is nevertheless an important and crucial part of the program, and failure to learn how to read can have long term negative consequences.

In reviewing the research evidence relating to the effectiveness of different instructional practices on learning outcomes, it is of interest to note that the effect sizes associated with effective class teaching practices are in general higher than the effect sizes of broader school-related initiatives designed to improve school effectiveness or to assist students who are having difficulty in learning to read. For example, effect sizes associated with the reduction of class size are generally substantially lower than the effect sizes associated with effective teaching practices, while the effectiveness (in terms of effect sizes) of one-to-one intervention programs such as Reading Recovery have yet to be established on the basis of well designed studies meeting rigorous scientific criteria.

At the same time, it should be noted that the adoption of effective classroom practices is, in comparison with other strategies such as the reduction of class size or the implementation of intervention programs such as Reading Recovery, much more cost effective.

Teachers have to be trained and employed. It costs no more to train teachers to use effective teaching practices than to train them to use ineffective teaching practices. And it costs no more to employ effective teachers than it costs to employ ineffective teachers.

From this point of view, the research evidence relating to the extent to which the introduction of effective instructional practices can improve student outcomes is encouraging. While time and resources might be required to ensure the implementation and ongoing evaluation of the impact of the teaching practices that have been identified as effective, there is good reason to believe that the outcomes will be positive.

At the same time, the evidence indicates that in some cases reading difficulties are associated with underlying cognitive deficits, and that in such cases students will require ongoing intensive intervention and support to achieve satisfactory outcomes.

### THE WAY FORWARD

There is increasing recognition in the educational community that it is time to move away from policies and practices based on philosophical beliefs about what should work, to evidence-based policies and practices based on the research evidence as to what does work (see, for example, Masters, 1999).

In the area of reading literacy, there appears to be a discrepancy between the research evidence as to 'what works', and the teaching strategies that form the basis of most current teaching programs.

In order to improve standards of literacy, it would seem that there is a need to rethink current approaches to the teaching of reading literacy in Australia, and to implement an ongoing program of research to evaluate the effectiveness of different approaches and strategies designed to improve student outcomes.

As noted at the beginning of this review, a range of new initiatives designed to improve literacy learning has been implemented in Australia over the past decade. However, no systematic mechanism has been set in place to evaluate the effectiveness of these programs in terms of improving student outcomes. The adoption of evidence-based policies and practices in the area of literacy development implies a greater emphasis on the evaluation of programs designed to improve literacy outcomes, using soundly based research designs and valid and reliable research tools. In this way it would be possible to evaluate the extent to which the various educational initiatives introduced are meeting their stated objectives, and whether alternative (and possibly less costly) strategies might be equally if not more effective than those currently in place.

### REFERENCES

Adams, M. J. (1990). *Beginning to Read: Thinking and Learning About Print*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.

Ainley, J., Fullarton, S., Frigo, T., and Owen, J. (1999). *Literacy Advance: Reviewing the Literature*. Melbourne: Catholic Education Commission of Victoria.

Ainley, J., and Fleming, M. (2000). Learning to Read in the Early Primary Years. Melbourne: Catholic Education Commission of Victoria.

Anderson, M. (1992) *Intelligence and Development: A Cognitive Theory.* Oxford, UK, Cambridge, MA: Blackwell.

Andrews, S. (1989). Psycholinguistics and reading acquisition: The argument for decoding. New South Wales *Journal of Special Education*, 10, 15–20.

Andrews, S. (1992). A skills approach: Optimising initial reading instruction. In A.J. Watson and A. M. Badenhop (Eds), *Prevention of Reading Failure*. Sydney: Ashton Scholastic.

Anderson, R.C., Hiebert, E.H., Scott, J.A., and Wilkinson, I.A.G. (1985). *Becoming a Nation of Readers: The Report of the Commission on Reading*. Washington, DC: National Academy of Education, Commission on Education and Public Policy..

Beard, R. (Ed.) (1993). *Teaching Literacy, Balancing Perspectives*. London: Hodder and Stoughton.

Bond, G. and Dykstra, R. (1967). The cooperative research program in first grade reading. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 2, 5–142.

Bowey, J. A. (2000). Recent Developments in Language Acquisition and Reading Research: The Phonological Basis of Children's Reading Difficulties. *Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist*, 17, 1, 5–31.

Britton, J. (1970). *Language and Learning*. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Britton, J., Burgess, T., Martin, N., McLeod, A., and Rosen, H. (1975). *The Development of Writing Abilities 11–18*. London. Schools Council Publications.

Burgess, C., Burgess, T., Cartland, L., Chambers, R. Hedgeland, J., Levine, N., Mole, J., Newsome, B., Smith, H., and Torber, M. (1973). *Understanding Children Writing*. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Byrne, B. (1998). The Foundation of Literacy: The Child's Acquisition of the Alphabetic Principle. Hove, East Sussex, UK: Psychology Press Ltd.

Byrne, B., and Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1989). Phonemic awareness and letter knowledge in the child's acquisition of the alphabetic principle. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81, 313–321.

Byrne, B. (1991a). The role of phonological awareness in reading acquisition. *Australian Journal of Reading*, 14, 133–139.

Byrne, B., and Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1991b). Evaluation of a program to teach phonemic awareness to young children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 83, 451–455.

Byrne, B., and Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1992). *Sound Foundations*. Artamon, Australia: Leyden. Byrne, B. and Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1993). Evaluation of a program to teach phonemic awareness to young children: A 1-year follow-up. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85, 104–111.

Byrne, B., and Fielding-Barnsley, R. (1995). Evaluation of a program to teach phonemic awareness to young children: A 2- and 3-year follow-up and a new preschool trial. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 87, 488–503.

Byrne, B., Fiedling-Barnsley, R. and Ashley, L. (2000). Effects of preschool phoneme identify training after six years: Outcome level distinguished from rate of response *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92, 4, 659–667.

Cambourne, B. (1988). *The Whole Story: Natural Learning and the Acquisition of Literacy*. Auckland: Ashton-Scholastic.

Castles, A. (1993). Varieties of developmental dyslexia. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Macquarie University, Sydney. (As quoted by Byrne et al, 2000).

Center, Y., Wheldall, K., Freeman, L., Outhred, L. and McNaught, M. (1995). An evaluation of Reading Recovery. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 30 (2), 240–263.

Center, Y., Freeman, L., and Robertson, G. (1998). An evaluation of schoolwide early language and literacy (SWELL) in six disadvantaged schools. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 45 (2), 143–172. Center, Y., Freeman, L., and Robertson, G. (2001a). The relative effect of a codeoriented and a meaning-oriented early literacy program on regular and low progress Australian students in Year 1 classrooms which implement Reading Recovery. *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 48 (2).

Center, Y., Freeman, L., and Robertson, G. (2001b). A longitudinal evaluation of the *Schoolwide Early Language and Literacy Program* (SWELL). In Slavin, R and Madden, N (Eds) Success for All: *Research and Reform in Elementary Education*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.

Chall, J. (1967). *Learning to Read: The Great Debate*. New York: McGraw-Hill. (Second edition, 1983; Third edition, 1996).

Chall, J. (1983). *Stages of Reading Development*. New York: McGraw Hill.

Chan, L.K.S. and Dally, K. (2000). Review of Literature. In Louden et al., *Mapping the Territory: Primary Students with Learning Difficulties: Literacy and Numeracy*. Canberra: Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs.

Chapman, J.W., Tunmer, W.E. and Prochnow, J.E. (1999). Success in Reading Recovery Depends on the Development of Phonological Processing Skills. New Zealand: Ministry of Education.

Clay, M. (1972). *Reading: The Patterning of Complex Behaviour*. Auckland: Heinemann.

Coltheart, M. (1980). When can children learn to read – and when should they be taught. In T.G. Waller and G.E. MacKinnon (Eds) *Reading Research: advances in theory and practice* (Vol. 1, pages 1–30). New York, Academic Press. Crévola, C. and Hill, P. (2001). *CLaSS: Children's Literacy Success Strategy: An Overview* (Revised Edition). Melbourne: Catholic Education Office.

Crévola, C. and Hill, P. (1998). Initial evaluation of a whole school approach to prevention and intervention in early literacy. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 3 (2), 133–157.

Cunningham, A.E. and Stanovich, K.E. (1990). Assessing print exposure and orthographic skill in children: A quick measure of reading experience. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 733–740.

de Lemos, M. (1999). A research-based evaluation of the Victorian First Steps Pilot Project for the First Three Years of Schooling. Melbourne: ACER.

de Lemos, M. (August, 1997). The literacy debate. Paper presented at the ACER Thursday Forum, Melbourne.

de Lemos, M. and Harvey-Beavis, A. (1995). The Development and Assessment of Literacy: Factors Related to the Development of Literacy: Background Paper 1 for the National School Literacy Survey. Unpublished paper, ACER. Melbourne. .

Deno, S.L., Mirkin, P.K., and Chiang, B. (1982). Identifying valid measures of reading. *Exceptional Children*, 49, 36–45.

Department of Employment, Education and Training. (1991a). *Australia's Language: The Australian Language and Literacy Policy*. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

Department of Employment, Education and Training. (1991b). Australia's Language: *The Australian Language and Literacy Policy. Companion Volume to the Policy Paper.* Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service. Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs. (1998). *Literacy for All: The Challenge for Australian Schools*. Canberra: Australian Government Printing Service.

Dixon, J. (1967) *Growth through English*. Huddersfield, Yorkshire: Oxford University press for the National Association for the Teaching of English.

Flesch, R. (1955). *Why Johnny Can't Read*. New York: Harper and Row.

Foorman, B.R., Francis, D.J., Fletcher, J.M., Scatschneider, C. and Mehta, P. (1998). The role of instruction in learning to read: Preventing reading failure in at-risk children. Journal of Educational Psychology, 90, 1, 37–55.

Freebody, P. and Gilbert, P. (1999) Research into language and literacy. In Keeves, J. and Marjoribanks, K. *Australian Education: Review of Research 1965–1998*. Camberwell: ACER Press.

Gough, P. (1995). The New Literacy: caveat emptor. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 18, 2, 79–86.

Graves, D. (1983). Writing: Teachers and Children at Work. Portsmouth: NH:Heinemann

Gunn, S. (compiler) (1999). Children's Literacy National Projects: Conference Report and Executive Summary, Researcher's Conference, 1998. Canberra: Department of Employment, Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA), Literacy Section of the Literacy and Special Programmes Branch

Halliday, M. A.K. (1975). *Learning how to Mean: Explorations in the Development of Language*. London: Edward Arnold. Hempenstall, K. (1996). The whole language approach to reading: An empiricist critique. *Australian Journal of Leaning Disabilities*, 3, 1, 22–32.

Holdaway, D. (1979). *Foundations of Literacy*. Sydney, NSW: Ashton-Scholastic.

House of Representatives Standing Committee on Employment Education and Training. (1992). The literacy challenge: *Strategies for early intervention for literacy and learning for Australian children*. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

Jensen, A.R. (1998). *The g Factor: The Science of Mental Ability*. Westport, Conn; London: Praeger.

Juel, C., Griffith, P. and Gough, P. (1986). Acquisition of literacy: A longitudinal study of children in first and second grade. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 78, 243–255.

Keeves, J. and Marjoribanks, K. (1999). *Australian Education: Review of Research* 1965–1998. Camberwell: ACER Press.

Lockery, M., and Maggs, A. (1982). Direct instruction in Australia: a ten-year analysis. Educational Psychology, 2, 3–4, 263–288.

Louden, W., Chan, L.K.S., Elkins, J., Greaves, D., House, H., Milton, M., Nicols, S., Rivalland, J., Rohl, M., and van Kraayenoord, C. (2000). *Mapping the Territory: Primary Students with Learning Difficulties: Literacy and Numeracy.* Canberra: Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs.

Masters, G. (November/December 1999). Towards a National School Research Agenda. Keynote Address presented at the joint NZARE/AARE Conference, Melbourne. Masters, G. and Forster, M. (1997). Mapping Literacy Achievement: Results of the 1996 National School English Literacy Survey. Canberra: DEETYA.

National Reading Panel (2000). *Teaching Children to Read: An Evidence-Based Assessment of the Scientific Research Literature on Reading and Its Implications for Reading Instruction.* http://www.nichd.nih.gov/publications/nr p/report.htm (Posted 13 April 2000, accessed 15 April 2000, last modified 16 May 2000).

Nelson, N. and Calfee, R.C. (1998). The reading-writing connection viewed historically. In Nelson, N. and Calfee, R.C. (Eds). *The Reading-Writing Connection*. Chicago, Ill: National Society for the Study of Education.

Nicholson, T. (2000). *Reading the Writing on the Wall: Debates, Challenges and Opportunities in the Teaching of Reading.* Palmerston North, NZ: Dunmore Press.

Pearson, P.D. (1999). A historically based review of *Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children. Reading Research Quarterly*, 34 (2), 231–246.

Pflaum, S., Wahlberg, H.J., Karegianes, M.L. and Rasher, S.P. (1980). Reading instruction: A quantitative analysis.*Educational Researcher*, 9, 12–18.

Pratt, C. and Coltheart, M. (1996). Guest Editorial, *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 48, 3,

Pressley, M. (1998). Reading Instruction that Works: *The Case for Balanced Teaching*. New York: The Guildford Press. Rivalland, J., and House, H. (2000). Mapping System Provision for Learning Difficulties. In Louden et al., *Mapping the Territory: Primary Students with Learning Difficulties: Literacy and Numeracy.* Canberra: Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs.

Rohl, M., Milton, M., and Brady, D. (2000). Survey of Schools. In Louden et al., *Mapping the Territory: Primary Students with Learning Difficulties: Literacy and Numeracy.* Canberra: Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs.

Rosen, C. and Rosen, H. (1973). *The Language of Primary School Children*. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Share, D.L. (1995). Phonological recoding and self-teaching: *sine qua non* of reading acquisition. *Cognition*, 55, 151–218.

Snow, C.E., Burns, S., and Griffin, P. (1998). *Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Special Education Centre. (1991). Expressive Word Attack Skills Test (Revised). Sydney: Macquarie University, Special Education Centre.

Stanovich, K.E. (1980). Toward an interactive-compensatory model of individual differences in the development of reading fluency. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 16, 32–71.

Stanovich, K.E. (1984). The interactivecompensatory model of reading: A confluence of developmental, experimental and educational psychology. *Remedial and Special Education*, 5, 11–19. Stanovich, K.E. (1986). Matthew effects in reading: some consequences of individual differences in the acquisition of literacy. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 21, 360–406.

Tangel, D. and Blachman B. (1992). Effect of phoneme awareness instruction on kindergarten children's invented spelling. *Journal of Reading Behaviour*, 24, 233–261.

Tasmania, Department of Education and the Arts. (1994). *Learning to Read and Write*. Hobart: Department of Education and the Arts.

Tunmer, W.E. and Chapman, J.W. (2002). The theoretical contexts of reading: How Children Learn to Read (and Why Some Don't). In P. Adams and H. Ryan (Eds.), Learning to read in Aotearoa New Zealand (pp. 51–64). Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press.

Tunmer, W.E. (November/December, 1999). Science Can Inform Education Practice: The Case of Literacy. 1999 Herbison Lecture, presented at the joint NZARE/AARE Conference, Melbourne.

van Kraayenoord, C.E. and Paris, S.G. (1994). Literacy instruction in Australian primary schools. *The Reading Teacher,* 48, 3, 218–228.

Waddington, N.J. (1988). *Diagnostic Reading and Spelling Test*. Ingle Farm, South Australia: Waddington Educational Resources.

Woodcock, R.W. (1987). *Woodcock Reading Mastery Test – Revised*. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service.